
ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

 

MEETING AGENDA 

*Agenda subject to change* 
 

March 30, 2023 
 

Ernest J. LaBaff Industrial Building, 19 Commerce Lane, Suite 1, Canton, New York 13617 
 
 

Call to Order  
 

Roll Call 
 
 

 

 
Public Notice 

 
   March 24, 2023 

Public Comment  

Approval of Minutes February 28, 2023 ... ……………………………………………………………………1-3 

Financial Report  

Reports of Committees    Governance Committee: Mark Hall to provide summary 
Finance Committee:  Mark Hall to provide summary 

 
Staff Report Patrick Kelly 

Old Business None 

New Business  Resolution: Annual Review of Code of Ethics ...............................................................4-5 
Resolution: Annual Review of Compensation, Reimbursement, & Attendance Policy…6 
Resolution: Annual Review of Whistleblower Policy ....………………………………7-9 
Resolution: Annual Review of Defense and Indemnification Policy…….……………...10 
Resolution: Disposition of Real Property Policy and 2022 Review of   Property…..11-16 
Resolution: Authorizing Allocations through the American Rescue Plan Act Economic 

Development & Tourism Funding Program ................................................ 17 
Resolution: Authorizing the Execution of Documents in Connection with Phase III 

Construction at the 100 Paterson St. Property ....................................... 18-19 
Resolution: Accepting FY2022 Audit…………………………………………………..20 
                    FY2022 Audit…………………………………………………separate attachment 
 
   
2022 Annual Report [PARIS] ............................................................. separate attachment 
2022 Mission and Performance Report .............................................. separate attachment 

 

Executive Session 

Adjournment                                    

 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



DRAFT

ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

 Meeting of February 28, 2023  

CALL TO ORDER: Mr. Blevins calls the meeting to order at  1:05PM in the main conference room at the 
Ernest J. LaBaff Industrial Building, Canton.   
   
ROLL CALL:  
Staples Absent LaBaff Absent 
McMahon Present Hall Present 
Morrill Present Reagen Present 
Blevins Present via Zoom  
  
A quorum is recognized.   
 
Others present: IDA staff Patrick Kelly, Kimberly Gilbert, and Richard Williams.  IDA Attorney Andrew 
Silver. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE: Public notifications sent February 22, 2023 to, at a minimum: newspapers designated for 
the publication of local laws and other matters required by law to be published; additional local media sources 
and websites. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:  No comment, Andrew Gardner Watertown Daily Times is also present. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  Motion to accept the minutes of the December 16, 2022 meeting by Mr. Hall, 
seconded by Mr. McMahon.  Motion carried unanimously.  
 
FINANCIAL REPORTS:  Mr. Hall motions and Mr. Morrill seconds the financial reports for October and 
November of 2022. 
 
Ms. Gilbert references page three of the IDA meeting packet and reviews the October 2022 highlight sheet. 
She reports that $52,400 of ARPA (American Rescue Plan Act) funds have been expended.  Awards have 
been provided to the Cranberry Lake Mountaineers snowmobile club, numerous Small Business and 
Nonprofit Assistance Program applicants, and to the CREST center at SUNY Canton for the CDL-A program. 
Ms. Gilbert notes that all other transactions for the month fall within the typical revenues and expenditures. 
She asks if any members have specific questions, and hearing none, moves to the November financials.  For 
November, Ms. Gilbert summarizes ARPA program expenses and the normal revenues and expenditures.  
There are no additional questions.  The financials are accepted unanimously. 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS:  Audit & Finance Committee: Mr. Hall reports that the committee met with the 
audit team on February 15th to discuss the audit process and ask any questions that the committee may have 
had. The audit is in progress and will be completed before the end of March.  
 
STAFF REPORT:  Mr. Kelly reports the following: 
 
100 Paterson Street Building:  Request for Proposals for ongoing improvements for the property are due 
tomorrow, March 1st. This includes general building and roof work to the 1946 section as well as electrical 
upgrades and  other improvements needed for the current and future tenants.  The current tenant is utilizing 
8,000 square feet with an option to increase to a little over 38,000 square feet. Mr. Williams explains that the 
Request for Proposal is divided into 21 separate line items.  Mr. McMahon asks why the RFP is divided into 
so many different line items.  Mr. Williams explains that this allows us to obtain the costs on a variety of work 
items of that we can then prioritize and determine which are cost effective to move forward with, while 
possible putting on hold items that may be less of a priority or not feasible from a pricing standpoint.   

1

Page 1



DRAFT

 
Massena Downtown Revitalization Initiative “DRI”: Mr. Kelly informs the board that we recently received 
the grant award documents for the DRI grand from Empire State Development informing us that our DRI 
application for the Massena School of Business Rehabilitation Project was approved for the full amount 
requested totaling $1.9 million. We are in the process of reviewing the documents.  
 
St. Lawrence Centre Mall: Mr. Kelly explains that the owner of the St. Lawrence Center Mall is  currently 
converting the mall for more than just retail use, repurposing the areas for possible warehousing space and 
industrial space. We are working with the mall owner to hopefully assist in filling the space.  
 
Ogdensburg Correction Facility: Mr. Kelly states that we are a member of the County-appointed reuse task 
force working on the prison and recently completed a tour of the facility.   Mr. Reagen Chair of the task force 
and comments on the group’s goals to preserve the condition of the facility while working with the state on 
productive reuse outcomes. 
 
American Rescue Plan Act “ARPA”:  Mr. Kelly gives an update on ARPA funding. The class for Heavy 
Equipment Operator is now in full swing, starting today (February 28, 2023) at the BOCES Southwest Tech 
facility in Fowler. This class will touch on a lot of areas, including the operation of equipment, safety, grading, 
site work, and backhoe and excavator specific training. The participants will get a certification upon 
completion to help move forward in the workforce. This was proposed to the St. Lawrence County Board  of 
Legislators as part of the ARPA funding because it was determined to be an area of need by local employers. 
It is an intense 16-week program that is held during evening hours and weekends. Mr. McMahon asks how 
many are in the class and the cost per participant. Mr. Kelly informs the board that the first class currently has 
12 enrolled participants, with the cost per participant at $7,900.  Optimal class sizes are in the 7-12 range.  We 
are partnering with our workforce partners, such as the local Workforce Development  Board, and others to 
obtain multiple funding sources for the participants. We are then able to serve more participants with the 
available funding.  
 
Events: Mr. Kelly states that we have had many successful business connections events including three recent 
ones at the local BOCES technical centers.  We also have a Business Mixer coming up on March 8th at the 
Canton Best Western. There will be three or four local businesses on the panel speaking about workforce 
attraction and retention of employees. Mr. Kelly will be the moderator. 
 
Mr. Kelly also reminds the board that it is that time of year for our Public Authority Reporting Information 
System (PARIS) reports. We are in the process of collecting annual reports and data from our local businesses. 
We will then enter all of the information into the PARIS system and generate a report for the board to review 
and approve at the end of March. All the reports are due by the end of March, including the audit. 
 
OLD BUSINESS:  None 
 
NEW BUSINESS:   
 
Resolution IDA-22-02-01  Authorizing Amendments to the Standard Workday Reporting Resolution. 
Mr. McMahon moves the resolution with Mr. Morrill seconding the motion. Mr. Kelly then explains that this is a 
form that is required to be approved annually. We approved a form at the end of last year, however we filed our 
information for the CEO, CFO and staff on the incorrect form. We have provided a draft of this resolution to the 
Office of the State Comptroller and have been told that it looks good. Mr. Blevins asks if the IDA does have a seal 
and who is the clerk the form refers to. Mr. Kelly states that the IDA does indeed have an official seal that is used, 
and the clerk can be represented by a variety of staff, typically the CFO. The resolution is approved by unanimous 
vote. 
 

2

Page 2



DRAFT

Resolution IDA-22-02-02: Authorizing a Commitment of Funds for the Drum Country Business Regional 
Marketing Initiative   Mr. Morrill moves the resolution with Mr. McMahon making the second. Mr. Kelly explains 
that we have had this agreement in place for multiple years. It represents a collaboration of  the St. Lawrence, 
Jefferson, and Lewis County IDAs and the Development Authority of the North Country partnering with Fort 
Drum to promote and develop the region. Mr. McMahon asks for examples of success from the initiative.  Mr. 
Kelly states that it helps promote St. Lawrence County to audiences that might not recognize the County, but do 
know the region and that it has assisted us in leveraging funding from National Grid for these efforts.  He also 
highlights that representatives from Fort Drum will be at the Business Mixer event we are holding next week in 
Canton to talk about transitioning soldiers into our workforce.  This relationship with Fort Drum was developed as 
part of this initiative.  The resolution is approved with all voting in favor except Mr. Hall who abstains due to his 
role as a board member of the Development Authority of the North Country. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION:  A motion is made by Mr. Hall, seconded by Mr. McMahon to go into executive 
session at 1:33 PM to discuss the financials of certain companies.  Mr. McMahon/Mr. Hall motion/second to 
return to regular session at 2:21 PM.    
 
Resolution IDA-22-02-03:  Authorizing Allocations Through the St. Lawrence County American Rescue Plan 
Act Economic Development and Tourism Funding Program. Mr. Hall moves the resolution with Mr. Morrill 
making the second. Mr. Reagen states when sending the information on the ARPA program to the Legislature, he 
highly recommends that we stick with using a map with color to show how the funds have been spread throughout 
the county, assisting multiple areas. Our goal, as presented to the county, was to spread the allocation of funds 
throughout the county and this map demonstrates very clearly how we are doing that. Mr. Kelly agrees to update 
the map with the new approvals and use that as a tool to demonstrate the issuance of funds throughout the county. 
The resolution is approved by unanimous vote. 
 
ADJOURNMENT:  A motion to adjourn is made by Mr. Hall and seconded by Mr. McMahon. The meeting 
adjourns at 2:26PM by unanimous vote.      

3

Page 3



ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
Res. No. IDA-23-03-xx 

Governance Committee Review: March 30, 2023 
March 30, 2023 

WHEREAS, the members of the Board and employees of the St. Lawrence County Industrial 
Development Agency (the “Authority”) are bound by the provisions of, among others, Public Authorities 
Law and Public Officers Law, and 

 
WHEREAS, the Authority has caused to be conducted a review of its Code of Ethics, and 
 

WHEREAS, after review, the Code has been updated, and 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development 

Agency authorizes the following policy: 
 

Code of Ethics 
 

This Code of Ethics shall apply to all board members, officers and employees of the St. Lawrence 
County Industrial Development Agency (hereinafter the “Authority”).  These policies shall serve as a 
guide for official conduct and are intended to enhance the ethical and professional performance of the 
Authority board members, officers and employees, and to preserve public confidence in the Authority’s 
mission. 

1. No board member, officer, or employee of the Authority shall accept other employment which 
will impair his or her independence of judgment in the exercise of his/her official duties. 

2. No board member, officer, or employee of the Authority shall accept employment or engage 
in any business or professional activity which will require him/her to disclose confidential 
information which he/she has gained by reason of his/her official position of authority. 

3. No board member, officer, or employee of the Authority shall disclose confidential 
information acquired by him/her in the course of his/her official duties nor use such 
information to further his/her personal interests. 

4. No board member, officer, or employee of the Authority shall use or attempt to use his/her 
official position to secure unwarranted privileges or exemptions for himself/herself or others. 

5. No board member, officer, or employee of the Authority shall engage in any transaction as a 
representative or agent of Authority with any business entity in which he/she has a direct or 
indirect financial interest that might reasonably tend to conflict with proper discharge of 
his/her official duties. 

6. A board member, officer, or employee of the Authority shall not by his/her conduct give 
reasonable basis for the impression that any person can improperly influence him/her or 
unduly enjoy his/her favor in the performance of his/her official duties, or that he/she is 
affected by the kinship, rank, position or influence of any party or person. 

7. Board members and employees shall not accept or receive any gift or gratuities where the 
circumstances would permit the inference that: (a) the gift is intended to influence the 
individual in the performance of official business or (b) the gift constitutes a tip, reward, or 
sign of appreciation for any official act by the individual.  This prohibition extends to any 
form of financial payments, services, loans, travel reimbursement, entertainment, hospitality, 
thing or promise form any entity doing business with or before the Authority.  

4

Page 4



8. A board member, officer, or employee of the Authority should abstain from making personal 
investments in enterprises which he/she has reason to believe may be directly involved in 
decisions to be made by him/her or which will otherwise create substantial conflict between 
his/her duty in the public interest and his/her private interest. 

9. A board member, officer, or employee of the Authority shall endeavor to pursue a course of 
conduct which will not raise suspicion among the public that he/she is likely to be engaged in 
acts that are in violation of his/her trust. 

10. Board members and employees shall not use Authority property, including equipment, 
telephones, vehicles, computers or other resources, or disclose information acquired in the 
course of their official duties in a manner inconsistent with State or local law or policy and the 
Authority’s mission and goals. 

11. Board members and employees are prohibited from appearing or practicing before the 
Authority for two (2) years following employment with the Authority, consistent with the 
provisions of Public Officers Law.  

Any and all previously-approved Code of Ethics of the St. Lawrence County Industrial 
Development Agency are hereby rescinded. 

 
 

 
Move:   I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared this copy of 

this Resolution with the original record in this office, and 
that the same is a correct transcript thereof and of the whole 
of said original record. 
 
 
/s/ 

Second:   
VOTE AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT  

Blevins      
Hall      
LaBaff      
McMahon      
Morrill       
Reagen     Lori Sibley 
Staples     March 30, 2023 

 

5

Page 5



ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
Res. No. IDA-23-03-xx 

 
Governance Committee Review: March 30, 2023 

March 30, 2023 
 

WHEREAS, the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency has caused to be 
conducted a review of its Compensation, Reimbursement and Attendance Policy, and 

 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development 

Agency authorizes the following policy: 
 

Compensation, Reimbursement and Attendance 
 

Pursuant to and in accordance with Sections 856 and [GML enabling act] of the General Municipal 
Law of the State of New York, the members of the board of the St. Lawrence County Industrial 
Development Agency (the “Authority”) shall serve without salary at the discretion of the St. Lawrence 
County Board of Legislators but may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in the 
performance of Authority duties at the approval of the Authority. 

The officers, employees and agents of the Authority shall serve at the discretion of the Authority Board 
at such compensation levels as may be approved by the Authority Board from time to time and may be 
reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in the performance of Authority duties at the approval of 
the Authority Board. 

The members of the Authority Board and officers of the Authority shall be available as required to 
perform the operations of the Authority and as set forth within the By-Laws of the Authority, as may 
be amended, restated or revised by the Authority Board from time to time.  Said members and officers 
of the Authority shall put forth their best efforts to perform their respective duties as outlined in the 
By-Laws of the Authority and any other directives of the Authority Board relating to same. 

Any and all previously approved Compensation, Reimbursement and Attendance policies of the 
Authority are hereby rescinded. 

 
Move:   I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared this copy of 

this Resolution with the original record in this office, and 
that the same is a correct transcript thereof and of the whole 
of said original record. 
 
 
/s/ 

Second:   
VOTE AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT  

Blevins      
Hall      
LaBaff      
McMahon      
Morrill                                                                              Lori Sibley             
Reagen                                                                            March 30, 2023 
Staples      

 

6

Page 6



ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
Res. No. IDA-23-03-xx 

Governance Committee Review: March 30, 2023 
March 30, 2023 

 
WHEREAS, the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency has caused to be 

conducted a review of its Whistleblower Policy and Procedures, and 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development 
Agency authorizes the following policy: 

 
 

Whistleblower Policy and Procedures 
 

Every member of the board (the “Board”) of the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency 
(the “Authority”) and all officers and employees thereof, in the performance of their duties shall 
conduct themselves with honesty and integrity and observe the highest standards of business and 
personal ethics as set forth in the Code of Ethics of the Authority (the “Code”). 

Purpose: 

It is the policy of the Authority to afford certain protections to individuals who, in good faith, report 
violations of the Authority’s Code of Ethics or other instances of potential wrongdoing within the 
Authority.  The Whistleblower Policy and Procedures set forth below are intended to encourage and 
enable employees to raise concerns in good faith within the Authority and without fear of retaliation 
or adverse employment action. 

 

Definitions: 

“Good Faith” – Information concerning potential wrongdoing is disclosed in “good faith” when the 
individual making the disclosure reasonably believes such information to be true and reasonably 
believes that it constitutes potential wrongdoing. 

“Authority Employee” – All board members, officers and staff employed at the Authority, whether 
full-time, part-time, employed pursuant to contract, employees on probation, and temporary 
employees. 

“Whistleblower” – Any Authority Employee (as defined herein) who, in good faith, discloses 
information regarding wrongdoing by another Authority employee, or concerning the business of the 
Authority itself. 

“Wrongdoing” – Any alleged corruption, fraud, criminal or unethical activity, misconduct, waste, 
conflict of interest, intentional reporting of false or misleading information, or abuse of authority 
engaged in by an Authority Employee (as defined herein) that relates to the Authority. 

“Personnel Action” – Any action affecting compensation, appointment, promotion, transfer, 
assignment, reassignment, reinstatement or evaluation of performance. 

  

7

Page 7



Section I: Reporting Wrongdoing 
All Authority employees who discover or have knowledge of potential wrongdoing concerning board 
members, officers, or employees of the Authority; or a person having business dealings with the 
Authority; or concerning the Authority itself, shall report such activity in accordance with the 
following procedures: 

a) The Authority employee shall disclose any information concerning wrongdoing either orally 
or in writing to the Chief Executive Officer or Counsel of the Authority. 

b) All Authority employees who discover or have knowledge of wrongdoing shall report such 
wrongdoing in a prompt and timely manner. 

c) The identity of the Whistleblower and the substance of his or her allegations will be kept 
confidential to the best extent possible. 

d) The individual to whom the potential wrongdoing is reported shall investigate and handle the 
claim in a timely and reasonable manner, which may include referring such information to the 
Authorities Budget Office or an appropriate law enforcement agency, where applicable. 

e) Should an Authority employee believe in good faith that disclosing information within the 
Authority pursuant to Section 1(a) above would likely subject him or her to adverse personnel 
action or be wholly ineffective, the Authority employee may instead disclose the information 
to the Authorities Budget Office or an appropriate law enforcement agency, if applicable.  The 
Authorities Budget Office’s toll-free number (1-800-560-1770) should be used in such 
circumstances. 

 

Section II: No Retaliation or Interference 

No Authority employee shall retaliate against any Whistleblower for the disclosure of potential 
wrongdoing, whether through threat, coercion, or abuse of authority; and no Authority employee shall 
interfere with the right of any other Authority employee by any improper means aimed at deterring 
disclosure of potential wrongdoing.  Any attempts at retaliation or interference are strictly prohibited, 
and 

a) No Authority employee who, in good faith, discloses potential violations of the Authority’s 
Code of Ethics or other instances of potential wrongdoing, shall suffer harassment, retaliation 
or adverse personnel action. 

b) All allegations of retaliation against a Whistleblower or interference with an individual seeking 
to disclose potential wrongdoing will be thoroughly investigated by the Authority. 

c) Any Authority employee who retaliates against or had attempted to interfere with any 
individual for having in good faith disclosed potential violations of the Authority’s Code of 
Ethics or other instances of potential wrongdoing is subject to discipline, which may include 
termination of employment. 

d) Any allegation of retaliation or interference will be taken and treated seriously and irrespective 
of the outcome of the initial complaint, will be treated as a separate matter. 

 

  

8

Page 8



Section III: Other Legal Rights Not Impaired 

The Whistleblower Policy and Procedures set forth herein are not intended to limit, diminish or impair 
any other rights or remedies that an individual may have under the law with respect to disclosing 
potential wrongdoing free from retaliation or adverse personnel action. 

a) Specifically, these Whistleblower Policy and Procedures are not intended to limit any rights or 
remedies that an individual may have under the laws of the State of New York, including but 
not limited to the following provisions: Civil Service Law § 75-b, Labor Law § 740, State 
Finance Law § 191 (commonly known as the “False Claims Act”) and Executive Law § 55(1). 

b) With respect to any rights or remedies that an individual may have pursuant to Civil Service 
Law § 75-B or Labor Law § 740, any employee who wishes to preserve such rights shall prior 
to disclosing information to a government body, have made a good faith effort to provide the 
appointing authority or his or her designee the information to be disclosed and shall provide 
the appointing authority or designee a reasonable time to take appropriate action unless there 
is imminent and serious danger to public health or safety. (Ref: Civil Service Law § 75-b[2][b]; 
Labor Law § 740[3]) 

 
 

 
Move:   I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared this copy of 

this Resolution with the original record in this office, and 
that the same is a correct transcript thereof and of the whole 
of said original record. 
 
 
/s/ 

Second:   
VOTE AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT  

Blevins      
Hall      
LaBaff      
McMahon      
Morrill       
Reagen     Lori Sibley 
Staples     March 30, 2023 

 

9

Page 9



ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
Res. No. IDA-23-03-xx 

Governance Committee Review: March 30, 2023 
March 30, 2023 

 

WHEREAS, the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency has caused to be 
conducted a review of its Defense and Indemnification Policy, and 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development 
Agency authorizes the following policy: 
 

Defense and Indemnification 

The St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency (the “Authority”) shall indemnify all 
members of the Board of the Authority and each officer and employee thereof, in the performance and 
scope of their duties, and to the extent authorized by the Authority Board, each other person authorized 
to act for the Authority or on its behalf, to the full extent to which indemnification is permitted under 
the General Municipal Law of the state of New York. 
 
Any and all previously-approved Defense and Indemnification policies of the Authority are hereby 
rescinded. 
 

 
Move:   I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared this copy of 

this Resolution with the original record in this office, and 
that the same is a correct transcript thereof and of the whole 
of said original record. 
 
 
/s/ 

Second:   
VOTE AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT  

Blevins      
Hall      
LaBaff      
McMahon      
Morrill       
Reagen     Lori Sibley 
Staples     March 30, 2023 

 

10

Page 10



 

 

ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
Resolution No. IDA-23-03-0x 

March 30, 2023 
 

2023 REVIEW OF DISPOSITION OF REAL PROPERTY GUIDELINES 
And 

2022 REPORT OF PROPERTY 

 
WHEREAS, Section 2896 of the Public Authority Law addresses the duties of public 

authorities with respect to (i) the adoption of guidelines for and (ii) the disposition of property, 
and 

 
WHEREAS, under this section, “Guidelines approved by the public authority shall be 

annually reviewed and approved by the governing body of the public authority,” 
 
WHEREAS, [St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency] staff recommend 

designating the [SLCIDA]’s Chief Executive Officer as the “Contracting Officer,” 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the [St. Lawrence County Industrial 

Development Agency], having reviewed said guidelines does hereby approve its “Guidelines for 
Disposition of Real Property” and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that said guidelines, along with the required report (per 

Section 2896 (3) (a) of the Public Authorities Law) shall be forwarded to: 
 

o The Comptroller of the State of New York 
o Director of the Budget of the State of New York 
o Commissioner of the New York State Office of General Services 
o New York State Legislature (via distribution to the Majority Leader of the 

Senate and the Speaker of the Assembly) 
o Authority Budget Office (Electronically through PARIS) 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that (also pursuant to Section 2896 (1) (b) of the PAL) 

this document shall be published electronically where it shall remain until the guidelines for the 
following year are reviewed and posted. 
 
 

Move:   I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared this copy of 
this Resolution with the original record in this office, and 
that the same is a correct transcript thereof and of the 
whole of said original record. 
 
 
/s/ 

Second:   

VOTE AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT  

Blevins      

Hall      

LaBaff      

McMahon      

Morrill       

Reagen     Lori Sibley 

Staples     March 30, 2023 

 
 
 

11

Page 11



 

 

ST. LAWRENCE CO. INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

 

DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY GUIDELINES 
RESOLUTION NO. IDA-23-03-XX  (MARCH  30, 2023) 

 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 2896 OF THE PUBLIC AUTHORITIES LAW 

 
SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS 

 

A. “Contracting officer” shall mean the officer or employee of the St. Lawrence County Industrial 
Development Agency (hereinafter, the “Local Authority”) who shall be appointed by resolution to be 
responsible for the disposition of property. 

 
B. “Dispose” or “disposal” shall mean transfer of title or any other beneficial interest in personal or 

real property in accordance with section 2897 of the Public Authorities Law.  
 
C. “Property” shall mean personal property in excess of five thousand dollars ($5,000) in value, and 

real property, and any inchoate or other interest in such property, to the extent that such interest may be 
conveyed to another person for any purpose, excluding an interest securing a loan or other financial 
obligation of another party. 

 
SECTION 2. DUTIES 

 
A.  The Local Authority shall:  

(i) maintain adequate inventory controls and accountability systems for all property owned by 
the Local Authority and under its control; 

(ii) periodically inventory such property to determine which property shall be disposed of; 
(iii) produce a written report of such property in accordance with subsection B herewith; and 
(iv) transfer or dispose of such property as promptly and practicably as possible in accordance 

with Section 2 below. 
 

B.  The Local Authority shall 

(i)  publish, not less frequently than annually, a report listing all real property owned in fee by 
the Local Authority.  Such report shall consist of a list and full description of all real and 
personal property disposed of during such period.  The report shall contain the price 
received by the Local Authority and the name of the purchaser for all such property sold by 
the Local Authority during such period; and 

(ii) shall deliver copies of such report to the Comptroller of the State of New York, the 
Director of the Budget of State of New York, the Commissioner of the New York State 
Office of General Services, and the New York State Legislature (via distribution to the 
majority leader of the senate and the speaker of the assembly) and the Authorities Budget 
Office. 

12

Page 12



 

 
SECTION 2. TRANSFER OR DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY 

 
A. Supervision and Direction.  Except as otherwise provided herein, the duly appointed contracting 

officer (the “Contracting Officer”) shall have supervision and direction over the disposition and sale of 
property of the Local Authority.  The Local Authority shall have the right to dispose of its property for 
any valid corporate purpose. 

B. Custody and Control.  The custody and control of Local Authority property, pending its 
disposition, and the disposal of such property, shall be performed by the Local Authority or by the 
Commissioner of General Services when so authorized under this section. 

C. Method of Disposition.  Unless otherwise permitted, the Local Authority shall dispose of property 
for not less than its fair market value by sale, exchange, or transfer, for cash, credit, or other property, 
with or without warranty, and upon such other terms and conditions as the Local Authority and/or 
contracting officer deems proper.  The Local Authority may execute such documents for the transfer of 
title or other interest in property and take such other action as it deems necessary or proper to dispose of 
such property under the provisions of this section.  Provided, however, except in compliance with all 
applicable law, no disposition of real property, any interest in real property, or any other property which 
because of its unique nature is not subject to fair market pricing shall be made unless an appraisal of the 
value of such property has been made by an independent appraiser and included in the record of the 
transaction and, provided further, that no disposition of any other property, which because of its unique 
nature or the unique circumstances of the proposed transaction is not readily valued by reference to an 
active market for similar property, shall be made without a similar appraisal. 

D. Sales by the Commissioner of General Services (the “Commissioner”).  When the Local 
Authority shall have deemed that transfer of property by the Commissioner will be advantageous to the 
State of New York, the Local Authority may enter into an agreement with the Commissioner of pursuant 
to which Commissioner may dispose of property of the Local Authority under terms and conditions 
agreed to by the Local Authority and the Commissioner.  In disposing of any such property, the 
Commissioner shall be bound by the terms hereof and references to the contracting officer shall be 
deemed to refer to such Commissioner. 

E. Validity of Deed, Bill of Sale, Lease, or Other Instrument.  A deed, bill of sale, lease, or other 
instrument executed by or on behalf of the Local Authority, purporting to transfer title or any other 
interest in property of the Local Authority in accordance herewith shall be conclusive evidence of 
compliance with the provisions of these guidelines and all applicable law insofar as concerns title or other 
interest of any bona fide grantee or transferee who has given valuable consideration for such title or other 
interest and has not received actual or constructive notice of lack of such compliance prior to the closing. 

F. Bids for Disposal; Advertising; Procedure; Disposal by Negotiation; Explanatory Statement.   

(i) Except as permitted by all applicable law, all disposals or contracts for disposal of property 
made or authorized by the Local Authority Contracting Officer shall be made after publicly 
advertising for bids except as provided in subsection (iii) of this Section F. 

(ii) Whenever public advertising for bids is required under subsection (i) of this Section F: 
(A) the advertisement for bids shall be made at such time prior to the disposal or contract, 

through such methods, and on such terms and conditions as shall permit full and free 
competition consistent with the value and nature of the property proposed for 
disposition; 

(B) all bids shall be publicly disclosed at the time and place stated in the advertisement; 
and  

(C) the award shall be made with reasonable promptness by notice to the responsible 
bidder whose bid, conforming to the invitation for bids, will be most advantageous to 
the Local Authority, price and other factors considered; provided, that all bids may be 
rejected at the Local Authority's discretion. 

(iii) Disposals and contracts for disposal of property may be negotiated or made by public 
auction without regard to subsections (i) and (ii) of this Section F but subject to obtaining 
such competition as is feasible under the circumstances, if: 

13

Page 13



 

(A)  the personal property involved has qualities separate from the utilitarian purpose of 
such property, such as artistic quality, antiquity, historical significant, rarity, or other 
quality of similar effect, that would tend to increase its value, or if the personal 
property is to be sold in such quantity that, if it were disposed of under subsections 
(i) and (ii) of this Section F, would adversely affect the state or local market for such 
property, and the estimated fair market value of such property and other satisfactory 
terms of disposal can be obtained by negotiation; 

(B) the fair market value of the property does not exceed fifteen thousand dollars;  
(C) bid prices after advertising therefore are not reasonable, either as to all or some part 

of the property, or have not been independently arrived at in open competition;  
(D) the disposal will be to the state or any political subdivision or public benefit 

corporation, and the estimated fair market value of the property and other satisfactory 
terms of disposal are obtained by negotiation; or 

(E) under those circumstances permitted by subdivision seven of this section; or 
(F) such action is otherwise authorized by law. 

 

(iv) (A) An explanatory statement shall be prepared of the circumstances of each disposal by 
negotiation of: 
(1) any personal property which has an estimated fair market value in excess of 

fifteen thousand dollars;  
(2) any real property that has an estimated fair market value in excess of one hundred 

thousand dollars, except that any real property disposed of by lease or exchange 
shall only be subject to clauses (3) and (4) of this subparagraph;  

(3) any real property disposed of by lease if the estimated annual rent over the term 
of the lease is in excess of  fifteen thousand dollars;  

(4) any real property or real and related personal property disposed of by exchange, 
regardless of value, or any property any part of the consideration for which is real 
property. 

(B) Each such statement shall be transmitted to the persons entitled to receive copies of 
the report required under all applicable law not less than ninety (90) days in advance of 
such disposal, and a copy thereof shall be preserved in the files of the Local Authority 
making such disposal. 

G. Disposal of Property for Less Than Fair Market Value 

(i) No asset owned, leased or otherwise in the control of the Local Authority may be sold, 
leased, or otherwise alienated for less than its fair market value except if: 

(A) the transferee is a government or other public entity, and the terms and conditions of 
the transfer require that the ownership and use of the asset will remain with the 
government or any other public entity; 

(B) the purpose of the transfer is within the purpose, mission or governing statue of the 
Local Authority; or 

(C) in the event the Local Authority seeks to transfer an asset for less than its fair market 
value to other than a governmental entity, which disposal would not be consistent 
with the Local Authority’s mission, purpose or governing statues, the Local 
Authority shall provide written notification thereof to the Governor, the Speaker of 
the Assembly, and the Temporary President of the Senate, and such proposed transfer 
shall be subject to denial by the Governor, the Senate, or the Assembly.  Denial by 
the Governor shall take the form of a signed certification by the Governor.  Denial by 
either House of the Legislature shall take the form of a resolution by such House.  
The Governor and each House of the legislature shall take any such action within 
sixty days of receiving notification of such proposed transfer during the months of 
January through June, provided that if the Legislature receives notification of a 
proposed transfer during the months of July through December, the legislature may 

14

Page 14



 

take such action within sixty days of January first of the following year.  If no such 
resolution or certification is performed within sixty days of such notification of the 
proposed transfer to the Governor, Senate, and Assembly, the Local Authority may 
effectuate such transfer.  Provided, however, that with respect to a below market 
transfer by the Local Authority that is not within the purpose, mission or governing 
statute of the Local Authority, if the governing statute provides for the approval of 
such transfer by the executive and legislative branches of the political subdivision in 
which the Local Authority resides, and the transfer is of property obtained by the 
Local Authority from that political subdivision, then such approval shall be sufficient 
to permit the transfer. 

(ii) In the event a below fair market value asset transfer is proposed, the following information 
must be provided to the Local Authority Board and to the public: 
(A) a full description of the asset; 
(B) an appraisal of the fair market value of the asset and any other information 

establishing the fair market value sought by the Board; 
(C) a description of the purpose of the transfer, and a reasonable statement of the kind 

and amount of the benefit to the public resulting from the transfer, including but not 
limited to the kind, number, location, wages or salaries of jobs created or preserved 
as required by the transfer, the benefits, if any, to the communities in which the asset 
is situated as are required by the transfer; 

(D) a statement of the value to be received compared to the fair market value; 
(E) the names of any private parties participating in the transfer, and if different than the 

statement required by subparagraph (D) of this paragraph, a statement of the value to 
the private party; and 

(F) the names of other private parties who have made an offer for such asset, the value 
offered, and the purpose for which the asset was sought to be used. 

(iii)  Before approving the disposal of any property for less than fair market value, the Local 
Authority Board shall consider the information described in paragraph (ii) of this subdivision 
and make a written determination that there is no reasonable alternative to the proposed 
below-market transfer that would achieve the same purpose of such transfer. 

The Guidelines are subject to modification and amendment at the discretion of the Local Authority board 
and shall be filed annually with all local and state agencies as required under all applicable law. 

The designated Contracting Officer for the Local Authority is its Chief Executive Officer. 

15

Page 15



 

 

 

 
Inventory of IDA Real Estate -2022 Report 

 

 

SWIS 
Tax Map 
Number Street Town Property Identification 

Property ID 
(Internal) Occupant(s) 

Lot 
Size 

Building 
Size 

Value in our 
Books Status  Assessment 

404001 173.034-2-2 Factory St Gouverneur Gouverneur Ind. Park land  Vacant Land 26.3 N/A $74,140 N/A $123,000 
402201 88.049-1-2.121 19 Commerce Ln Canton Canton Ind. Building 1CIB SLCIDA (Owner) 22.5 15,400 $2,190,697 Lease $1,150,000 
402201 88.049-1-2.121 19 Commerce Ln Canton Canton Industrial Park (land) CIP SLCIDA (Owner) 20.4 N/A $343,240 N/A 150,000 
405801 016.027-4-8 24 Trade Road Massena Lot 12 – Massena Ind. Park MIB-L12 Vacant Land 2.3 N/A $40,963 N/A $30,700 
402600 214.000-4-26 CR60 Clifton Newton Falls Rail MANRR Rail 43.3 N/A $00 N/A $350,000 
403600 213.000-6-46 N/A Fine Newton Falls Rail MANRR Rail 85.1 N/A $00 N/A $3,748,148 
407200 222.001-1-9 Jayville Rd Pitcairn Newton Falls Rail MANRR Rail 82.5 N/A $00 N/A $1,000,000 

 

 
Disposition in 2022: 

 
SWIS 

Tax Map #  Town  Property Identification 
Property ID 
(Internal) Occupant 

Lot 
Size 

Building 
Size Appraisal 

Fair Market 
Value 

Sale/Lease 
Price 

 

None 

           

 

16

Page 16



ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
Resolution No. IDA-23-03-xx 

March 30, 2023 
 

AUTHORIZING ALLOCATIONS THROUGH THE 

ST LAWRENCE COUNTY AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TOURISM FUNDING PROGRAM 

 
WHEREAS, on August 1, 2022, the St. Lawrence County Board of Legislators approved 

accepting the County’s American Rescue Plan Act (“ARPA”) Committee’s recommendation for the 
portion of American Rescue Plan Act Funds to be administered by the St. Lawrence County Industrial 
Development Agency (“IDA”), and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Legislators declared that “economic development and tourism are 
essential to improving the services and activities available in St. Lawrence County” and allocated 
$2,900,000 in ARPA funds to be distributed through the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development 
Agency (“IDA”) to organizations impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and 

WHEREAS, these recommendations included authorizing funds for Economic Development 
and Tourism as allowed within the scope of the ARPA Final Rule, and 

WHEREAS, St. Lawrence County and the IDA have an existing economic development 
services agreement through which the IDA provides economic development services for the County 
and the allocation of these funds by the IDA is being performed within the scope of this existing 
economic development services agreement, and 

WHEREAS, the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency is now accepting 
applications for ARPA funding assistance,  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the St. Lawrence County Industrial 
Development Agency, having exercised its own due diligence in the matter, authorizes the allocation 
of ARPA funds in the amounts as described in the attached document (Exhibit A), and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development 
Agency authorizes the creation, execution and/or delivery of any and all documents and/or budget 
accounts that may be required to effectuate the transactions contemplated by this resolution.  

 
Move:   I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared this copy of this 

Resolution with the original record in this office, and that the 
same is a correct transcript thereof and of the whole of said 
original record. 
 
 

Second:   

VOTE AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT  

Blevins      

Hall      

LaBaff      

McMahon      

Morrill       Lori Sibley                                                 March 30, 2023 

Reagen      

Staples      

 

 

17

Page 17



ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 

CONTINUED IMPROVEMENTS UNDER PHASE III RENOVATIONS TO  

THE 100 PATERSON STREET FACILITY, OGDENSBURG 

Resolution No. IDA-23-03-xx 
March 30, 2023 

 
A regular meeting of the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency (the 

“SLCIDA”) was convened on March 30, 2023 at 1:00 PM, local time, in the Main Conference Room 
of the Ernest J. LaBaff Industrial Building, 19 Commerce Lane, Canton, New York. 

 
The meeting was called to order by Mr. Staples, and upon roll being called, the following 

members of the SLCIDA were: 
 

MEMBER PRESENT ABSENT 

Blevins, Lynn    
Hall, Mark   

LaBaff, Ernie   
McMahon, Andrew   

Morrill, Steven    
Reagan, James    
Staples, Brian    

 
The following persons were ALSO PRESENT: (IDA Staff) Patrick Kelly, Kimberly Gilbert, 
Richard Williams, and Lori Sibley. 

After the meeting had been duly called to order, Mr. Staples announced that among the 
purposes of the meeting was to consider and take action on certain matters pertaining to the former 
Newell Manufacturing facility (“100 Paterson St. Property”) in Ogdensburg. 

On motion duly made by ___________ and seconded by _________, the following resolution 
was placed before the members of the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency:  

RESOLUTION OF THE ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS IN 

CONNECTION WITH PHASE III CONSTRUCTION AT THE 100 PATERSON ST. 

PROPERTY  

 
Resolution No. IDA-23-03-xx 

 
WHEREAS, the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency (“SLCIDA”) supports 

the redevelopment of the former manufacturing facility (the “Project”) and recognizes the importance 
of the Project toward creating economic development opportunities in the County; and 

 
WHEREAS, The SLCIDA had solicited proposals from qualified contractors for several 

building and tenant improvement projects within its 100 Paterson St. facility; and 

 

WHEREAS, two proposals were received with one including all line items totaling $575,465.     
 

18

Page 18



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the St. Lawrence County Industrial 
Development Agency authorizes the preparation, execution, and delivery of all necessary documents 
for construction with John J. Doyle Builders, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $575,465, and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency 

officers are, subject to Legal Counsel’s opinion, each hereby designated, authorized, empowered, and 
directed to execute and deliver any and all agreements necessary to effectuate the transactions 
contemplated by this resolution. 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to vote on roll call, 
which resulted as follows:  

MEMBER AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT 
Blevins, Lynn      

Hall, Mark     
LaBaff, Ernie     

McMahon, Andrew     
Morrill, Steven      
Reagan, James      
Staples, Brian       

The Resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 
 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 

 
 

 

 

 

19

Page 19



ST. LAWRENCE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
Resolution No. IDA-23-03-xx 

March 30, 2023 

ACCEPTING FY2022 SLCIDA AUDIT 

 
WHEREAS, on September 15, 2021, the St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency 

appointed Pinto, Mucenski, Hooper, VanHouse & Co. as its independent audit firm for the fiscal years 
2021 through 2025, and 

 
WHEREAS, the firm has prepared and provided the following report (attached): 

 
St. Lawrence County Industrial Development Agency 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Information 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the St. Lawrence County Industrial 
Development Agency accepts said report and directs its staff to remit payment to Pinto, Mucenski, Hooper, 
VanHouse & Co. in accordance with the terms set forth in St. Lawrence County Industrial Development 
Agency Resolution No. 21-11-28, and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the SLCIDA shall cause this report to be forwarded to: 
▪ St. Lawrence County Treasurer 
▪ St. Lawrence County Legislative Chairman 
▪ New York State Department of Economic Development 
▪ New York State Office of the Comptroller, Bureau of Municipal Research and Statistics 
▪ New York State Authorities Budget Office 

 

 
 

Move:   I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared this copy of 
this Resolution with the original record in this office, and 
that the same is a correct transcript thereof and of the whole 
of said original record. 
 
 
/s/ 

Second:   
VOTE AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT  

Blevins      
Hall      
LaBaff      
McMahon      
Morrill       
Reagen     Lori Sibley 
Staples     March 30, 2023 

 
 

20

Page 20




